
 
  

P12 
 



  P12 

 1 

QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
 
 

1. Whether the presence of a domestic transaction, as required by the 

Morrison analysis, is sufficient in determining the extraterritorial 

application of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to 

actors related to securities traded within the United States. 

 

2. Whether an employee tasked with legal compliance who knowingly 

drafts, and intentionally inserts, false assurances and/or misleading 

statements into investor materials can be held primarily liable under 

Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 

regardless of whether that employee actually makes the statements to 

market participants. 
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STATUTORY AND REGULATORY PROVISIONS INVOLVED 
 

 This case involves §10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 

10b-5(a) and (c) as promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

The relevant text of these statutes and regulations may be found in the 

Appendix. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 
 

A. Summary of the Facts 
 
 This appeal arises out of the intentional distribution of materially false 

statements and assurances to investors by a corporation and its affiliates, 

which led to the financial detriment of market participants in the United 

States. (R. at 1, 6, 7).  Gianni Marconi (“Marconi”), a U.S. citizen, is a 

businessman and successful innovator with a long career of developing startup 

companies that successfully disrupt larger enterprises and competitors in the 

industry.  (R. at 1).  In 2007, Marconi moved to Sicily, Italy, determined to 

enter the wine-and-spirits industry to compete against the Lampari group, a 

dominant market-leader.  Id.  In pursuit of this goal, Marconi contacted Benny 

Factor (“Factor”), also a U.S. citizen, who was a successful senior financial 

executive at a major corporation located in the United States.  (R. at 2).  With 

Factor’s help, Marconi connected with numerous associates in the United 

States.  Id.  After further exploring and understanding the market, they 

launched their business, “Alcollezione,” (the “Company”) in 2009.  Id.   Ava 

Cato (“Cato”), the Respondent in this action, served as their in-house attorney 

and counsel in order to enhance the Company’s compliance with the law and 

applicable regulations.  (R. at 3).  
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In an effort to compete with the Lampari Group and raise capital from 

the public markets, the Company conducted an initial public offering (“IPO”) of 

its shares in Italy in 2011 and simultaneously listed the shares on an Italian 

stock exchange.  Id.  Following their success in Italy, Marconi, Factor, and Cato 

took a business trip to the United States, where the popularity of their beverage 

products had been growing.  Id.  During this trip, Doris Schutt (“Schutt”), an 

American investment banker based in New York City, proposed to Marconi and 

the others that the Company should consider forming a subsidiary in the 

United States or, in the alternative, consider sponsoring an American 

Depository Receipt (“ADR”) in the United States.  Id.   

After the trip, Marconi received a call from Schutt regarding a group of 

U.S. hedge fund managers who expressed interest in the Company.  (R. at 4). 

Schutt subsequently established an unsponsored ADR, filing a Form F-6 with 

the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) to register them in the United 

States as required by the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities 

Act”).  (R. at 4).  The ADRs began trading over-the-counter (“OTC”) in the 

United States shortly thereafter, and were purchased via phone by various 

hedge fund managers in New York and Connecticut through Hansen Bank and 

Trust, a New York depository institution where Schutt worked.  (R. at 4). 

At the Company’s 2017 Annual Shareholder’s Meeting (the “Annual 

Meeting”) in Milan, Alcollezione planned to announce the release of its new 

hard-seltzer beverage called “Frizzantissimo,” a beverage product which had 

been thriving in the United States.  (R. at 6).  Leading up to the Annual 

Meeting, Cato conducted research to determine if the beverage would comply 
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with applicable Italian regulations.  (R. at 5).  After conducting research, Cato 

determined that compliance would be an uphill climb and seemed unlikely in 

the short-term.  Id.  Marconi informed Cato he would be able to “. . . handle the 

PR stuff if there is blowback”, and that “this sort of thing was perfectly common 

in business.” Id.  Marconi made clear, however, that this would continue with 

or without her.  Id.  Notwithstanding her warnings to Marconi, Cato drafted 

knowingly-false assurances for the product, stating that it was to be approved 

and ready for the market in the second quarter of 2018.  (R. at 6).  Cato 

condensed and incorporated these assurances into the slide-deck and pro-

forma financial statements to be presented to investors at the Annual Meeting 

and posted on the Company’s Investor Relations website page in English.  Id.    

The Company’s stock and ADRs soared on news of the Frizzantissimo 

product launch, trading over 8% in the after-hours market and also trending 

upward by another 14% by the early winter of 2018.  Id.  On March 14, 2018, 

Alcollezione was ordered by Italian authorities to halt all production of 

Frizzantissimo due to the Company’s noncompliance with legally required 

quality control standards of production.  Id.  Unsurprisingly, the news 

devastated the Company’s publicly-traded securities, with the stock and ADRs 

plunging 29% and 27%, respectively.  Id.  All three senior executives of the 

company resigned thereafter.  Id.  

B. Procedural History 

This action was initially filed in the United States District Court for the 

District of Fordham by a group of U.S. hedge fund managers, headed by Robert 

Maxelrod (the “Plaintiffs”), against the Company, Marconi, Factor, and Cato 
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(collectively, the “Defendants”), alleging securities fraud in violation of Section 

10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) 

and Rules 10b-5(a) and (c) thereunder (hereinafter collectively, “Rule 10b-

5”).  (R. at 6).  Each of the individual Defendants filed motions pursuant to 

Rule 12(b)(6) for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  See 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6); (R. at 7).  The District Court rejected the motions in 

part as to Marconi and Cato and granted Factor’s motion.  (R. at 8).  A 

settlement was thereafter reached between the Plaintiffs and Marconi.  (R. at 

7).  An interlocutory appeal was sought by the Respondent, Cato.  The United 

States Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth Circuit Court reversed the District 

Court’s decision, holding that the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) of 

the Exchange Act was not proper and that Cato was not primarily liable under 

Rule 10b-5. (R. at 23). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 
 
 This Court should reverse the Fourteenth Circuit’s decision and hold 

that a determination that a transaction is domestic is sufficient for the 

extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act.  Specifically, 

the Fourteenth Circuit erred in utilizing the heightened analysis of the Second 

Circuit’s Parkcentral test, rather than relying solely on the Morrison test 

established by this Court to come to such a conclusion. 

The Morrison test reaches two types of transactions; (1) the purchase and 

sale of the security listed on an American exchange or (2) to any other security 

not so listed. Here, the unsponsored ADRs satisfy the second prong 

of Morrison’s domesticity analysis as securities not listed on an exchange.  The 
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application of Parkcentral, which examines whether the transaction was 

predominantly foreign, fundamentally contradicts the purpose of Morrison and 

disrupts its pursuit of uniformity by requiring courts to review additional 

considerations.  Respondents fail to demonstrate not only why 

the Parkcentral test is more efficient, but also why it should be utilized outside 

of its limited application.   

Assuming, arguendo, that Parkcentral is utilized, the transaction here 

was not so predominantly foreign as to render extraterritoriality impermissible. 

The Company’s substantial business ties to the U.S., the knowledge of the 

parties involved, and the domestic locations of the securities transactions all 

render the application of Section 10(b) proper.   

Additionally, this Court should find that Respondent was primarily liable 

under Rule 10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c), as she was the principal drafter of the false 

and misleading statements.  Rule 10b-5 ensures that actors in the public 

markets are held liable for disseminating false and misleading information to 

market participants. Specifically, Rule 10-b5(a) prohibits the use of a device or 

scheme to defraud investors.  Here, Respondent was an influential part of a 

scheme under Rule 10b-5(a) when she knowingly drafted and published false 

assurances that were dispersed to investors on the Company’s website.  Rule 

10b-5(c) similarly prohibits engaging in any act which defrauds or deceives any 

person in connection with the sale of securities.  Market actors should be held 

primarily liable for such actions even though they are not the actual “maker” 

statements under Rule 10b-5(b).  Respondent has failed to demonstrate that 
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she was not culpable under the standard set out in Lorenzo which relies on the 

dissemination of false or misleading statements with the intent to defraud. 

We respectfully ask this Court to reverse the decision of the Fourteenth 

Circuit below and to affirm the decision of the District Court of Fordham. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 
 

 This Court reviews de novo a dismissal for failure to state a claim upon 

which relief can be granted under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6).  Bell 

Atl. Corp v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 556 (U.S. 2007).  A claim must plead 

enough facts that it is plausible on its face.  Id. at 570.  Claims of securities 

fraud are subject to heightened pleading requirements under Rule 9(b) of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 9(b). Rule 9(b) requires 

specifying the false statements and by whom they are made, and also 

identifying the basis for inferring scienter.  N. Am. Catholic Educ. Programming 

Found., Inc. v. Cardinale, 567 F.3d 8, 13 (1st Cir. 2009). 
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ARGUMENT 

I.  THE EXTRATERRITORIAL APPLICATION OF FEDERAL SECURITIES 
LAWS, INCLUDING SECTION 10(B) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT, IS JUSTIFIED 
WHEN A TRANSACTION IS DETERMINED TO BE SUFFICIENTLY 
DOMESTIC IN NATURE PURSUANT TO MORRISON. 
 
 This Court should reverse the decision of the Fourteenth Circuit and 

hold that the purchase of the ADRs, which are traded in the United States, is 

not so predominantly foreign to preclude the application of §10(b).  At its core, 

§10(b) prohibits the use or employ of any manipulative or deceptive device or 

contrivance in connection with the purchase or sale of a security registered on 

a national securities exchange or any security not so registered.  15 U.S.C. 

§ 78j.  While this Court has articulated that there should be a presumption 

against the extraterritorial application of §10(b) outside the United States – 

absent congressional intent to the contrary – such a presumption may be 

overcome with a showing of sufficient trading within a domestic market.  

Morrison v. Nat'l Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247, 266 (U.S. 2010).  Here, the 

purchase and sale of Alcollezione’s ADRs occurred in the United States, and, as 

such, sufficiently satisfies the second prong of the Morrison transactional 

test.   Accordingly, the extraterritorial application of §10(b) is proper. 

A. Pursuant to this Court’s holding in Morrison, analysis regarding 
extraterritoriality should end upon a finding of domesticity.  

 For the extraterritorial application of §10(b) to be proper, the security 

transaction at issue must be domestic in nature.  The seminal case in 

determining extraterritoriality under §10(b) of the Exchange Act is this Court’s 

decision in Morrison v. Nat'l Austl. Bank Ltd., where it established a 

“transactional” test for gauging jurisdiction over foreign parties.  561 U.S. 247 
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(2010).  After an assessment of prior precedent, which was deemed to have 

been grounded in an inconsistent “conducts and effects” test, this Court first 

announced a presumption against extraterritoriality.  The Morrison court 

sought to establish a workable test under which foreign entities and the 

question of extraterritoriality could be uniformly examined and relied upon.  

See id. at 262.   

 The presumption against extraterritoriality is not absolute.  The Morrison 

court carefully articulated a work-around for certain domestically sufficient 

circumstances with the creation of a “transactional test,” holding that “Section 

10(b) reaches the use of a manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance only 

in connection with the purchase or sale of a security listed on an American 

stock exchange, and the purchase or sale of any other security in the United 

States.”  Id. at 273.  (Emphasis added).  Specifically, in order to overcome the 

presumption against extraterritoriality, there must be a showing that the 

transaction at issue involved either (i) the purchase or sale of a security listed 

on an American stock exchange, or (ii) any other security in the United 

States.  Id. 

Petitioners concede that this was not the purchase or sale of a security 

listed on an American stock exchange.  However, the purchase and sale of 

Alcollezione’s ADRs is sufficiently domestic under the second-prong of the 

Morrison analysis.  Unsponsored ADRs have previously been considered 

securities in instances where “irrevocable liability” is incurred. See Stoyas v. 

Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d 933, 936 (9th Cir. 2018).  What’s more, courts look to 

where purchasers incur liability to take and pay for securities, and where 



  P12 

 15 

sellers incur liability to deliver securities, to trigger jurisdiction under §10(b).  

Stoyas, 896 F.3d at 936 (holding ADRs were "securities" under the Exchange 

Act, and purchasers were allowed to amend the complaint to allege that the 

purchase of unsponsored ADRs was a domestic purchase and that the alleged 

fraud was connected to the purchase).  Importantly, jurisdiction can, and 

should, be established by examining the location in which title is transferred.  

Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 677 F.3d 60, 62 (2d Cir. 

2012).  

 Therefore, in order to sufficiently allege a domestic securities transaction 

for securities not listed on a domestic exchange, the plaintiff must allege “facts 

suggesting that irrevocable liability was incurred, or title was transferred within 

the United States.”  Id. at 68. Here, the ADRs were traded over-the-counter in 

the United States.  (R. at 4]).  “[T]ransactions on the domestic over-the-counter 

market are as inherently imbued with our national interest as trades on 

national exchanges.”  SEC v. Ficeto, 839 F. Supp. 2d 1101, 1108 (C.D. Cal. 

2011).  In Ficeto, the Court found that Morrison did not bar the application of 

§10(b) to foreign and domestic Defendants who allegedly engaged in 

manipulative trading tactics on domestic over-the-counter securities markets.  

Id. at 1117. 

The unsponsored ADRs at issue here satisfy the second prong of 

Morrison because they were traded over-the-counter in the United 

States.  Indeed, the facts here are notably even more domestic in nature as 

compared to the facts in Morrison:  (i) the ADR transactions involved 

purchasers who are located in the United States; and (ii) the transfers of the 
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ADRs were completed between Hansen Bank and Trust, a U.S. based 

depository, and the plaintiffs, U.S. investors.  (R. at 4).  What’s more, the 

transactions occurred within the States of New York and Connecticut, and the 

ADRs were part of a larger effort to move towards a U.S. market.  As such, in 

light of these facts, the transfer qualifies under the irrevocable liability 

standard, and thus satisfies the second prong of analysis within Morrison.  

B. The Second Circuit’s holding in Parkcentral did not establish a new 
standard under Section 10(b) and only applies to a very narrow set 

of circumstances which do not exist here. 

The Fourteenth Circuit Court’s decision to apply the second circuit’s 

Parkcentral test, to determine the question of extraterritoriality was erroneous 

and warrants reversal.  In Parkcentral, the Second Circuit examined the aspect 

of foreign activity in tandem with the domestic listing requirement of Morrison 

in order to determine whether the activity was so “predominantly foreign as to 

be impermissibly extraterritorial.” Parkcentral Glob. HUB Ltd. v. Porsche Auto. 

Holdings SE, 763 F.3d 198, 212 (2d Cir. 2014).  Parkcentral was a distinctly 

fact-specific case, especially as it related to the nature of the transactions at 

issue there, since the defendant in that case utilized securities-based swap 

agreements and moved to dismiss those agreements because of their reference 

to foreign shares.  Id. at 216.  The Second Circuit’s analysis appears to bend 

over backwards in its effort to obtain jurisdiction in a way that made sense 

given the specific facts there.  The Second Circuit carefully noted, “We do not 

purport to proffer a test that will reliably determine when a particular 

invocation of §10(b) will be deemed appropriately domestic or impermissibly 

extraterritorial . . . courts must carefully make their way with careful attention 



  P12 

 17 

to the facts of each case . . .”  Id. at 217.  Significantly, few courts have since 

applied the Parkcentral analysis.  See, e.g., Prime Int'l Trading, Ltd. v. BP P.L.C., 

937 F.3d 94, 105 (2d Cir. 2019); In re London Silver Fixing, Ltd., Antitrust Litig., 

332 F. Supp. 3d 885 (S.D.N.Y. 2018); SEC v. Im, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22993, 

at *5-6 (S.D.N.Y. Feb. 12, 2018). Importantly, Parkcentral has seldom been 

utilized by other circuit courts.  Atlantica Holdings, Inc. v. BTA Bank JSC, 2015 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3209, at *23 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 12, 2015); Giunta v. Dingman, 893 

F.3d 73, 82 (2d Cir. 2018); Stoyas v. Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d 933, 950 (9th Cir. 

2018).  For example, in Stoyas, the Ninth Circuit declined to apply the 

Parkcentral analysis, stating that it was “distinguishable on many 

grounds.”  896 F.3d at 950.  The Ninth Circuit examined the differences 

between ADRs and securities-based swap agreements, particularly as they 

related to stock prices and company interactivity.  Id.  Stoyas disavowed 

Parkcentral for being in conflict with Section §10(b) and Morrison itself, stating 

that the test was, “an open-ended, under-defined multi-factor test,” that was 

similar to the “the vague and unpredictable tests that Morrison criticized and 

endeavored to replace with a ‘clear,’ administrable rule.”  Id. (citing Morrison, 

561 U.S. at 257-59).  

The danger of Parkcentral lies in its subjectivity and increased 

applicability of its standard in instances involving any foreign transaction.  By 

inserting additional subjective requirements for courts to review, it serves only 

to defeat – rather than further – the purpose of Morrison and regresses the 

question on extraterritoriality back into the inconsistent standard applied 

before this Court’s resolution in Morrison. 
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Here, such an application would contradict §10(b) and undermine the 

goal of consistency set out in Morrison.  This Court in Morrison identified the 

problems of the “judicial-speculation-made-law” and highlighted the 

inconsistencies that plagued judicial precedent on the issue of 

extraterritoriality.  Morrison, 561 U.S. at 260.  This Court stated that, 

“Commentators have criticized the unpredictable and inconsistent application 

of §10(b) to transnational cases,” and stated that “[r]ather than guess anew in 

each case, we apply the presumption [against extraterritoriality] in all cases, 

preserving a stable background against which Congress can employ legislation 

with predictable effects.”  Id. (Emphasis added).  The problem in utilizing 

Parkcentral is that it creates a “predominantly foreign” standard, which relies 

upon a subjective judicial analysis of the factors within each case.  This 

standard inherently leads to an inconsistent application of the law, and, as a 

result, yields different outcomes for the same set of facts depending on the 

court.  The Court should follow Stoyas in recognizing and rejecting the 

inconsistencies of Parkcentral. 

The problems in applying Parkcentral can be noticed in the immediate 

matter.  Certain facts could be siphoned off and examined in isolation from 

others or be given more emphasis that would lead to an inconsistent 

application of securities laws.  Simply put, the Parkcentral test has no concrete, 

bright-line factors, and its application relies on judicial discretion, something 

that this Court in Morrison attempted to prevent.  The analysis here should end 

with Morrison, since that standard creates a rule that can be easily adhered to 

and that would not result in additional judicial discretion. 
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C. Assuming, arguendo, the Parkcentral test applies, the transactions 
here are not so predominantly foreign as to render 

extraterritoriality impermissible. 
 
Even if the Parkcentral test is utilized in the assessment of 

extraterritoriality, there was still sufficient domestic conduct that justifies the 

application of §10(b).  While the factors in assessing whether a transaction is 

predominantly foreign are not entirely clear, the location of the transaction and 

the type of security seem crucial to the analysis.  Additionally, the parties 

affected, and the markets impacted, are also important considerations.  See Im, 

2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22993, at *5-6 (invoking Parkcentral in stating that 

there was additional flexibility required).  While courts are reluctant to 

intervene when there is a foreign investigation ongoing, they have done so 

before when additional factors warrant jurisdiction.  See In re Volkswagen 

"Clean Diesel" Mktg., Sales Practices, & Prods. Liab. Litig., 2017 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 1109, at *799 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 4, 2017) (finding that extraterritoriality 

was proper despite Volkswagen being the subject of an investigation and 

litigation in Germany since Volkswagen had sponsored and purchased the 

ADRs in the U.S. and because the U.S. had a strong interest in protecting 

domestic investors against securities fraud).  

The standard set forth in Parkcentral weighs the various facts 

surrounding transactions within a case to determine if they are so 

predominantly foreign as to render extraterritoriality impermissible.  763 F.3d 

at 216.  In Parkcentral, the foreign company had minimal knowledge that 

exchanges were occurring.  763 F.3d at 214.  It involved a German company 
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and an investigation that had been underway in Germany along with decisions 

having already been rendered by German courts.  Id. at 218.  

Unsurprisingly, transactions with close U.S. ties have not been found 

predominantly foreign.  In Giunta v. Dingman, the court there found a 

transaction was not so predominantly foreign when the agreement at issue, 

was entered in New York, the seller’s continued contacts and requests of the 

purchaser occurred in New York, both parties to the agreement were U.S. 

citizens, and confirmation letters were sent to addresses in New York.  893 

F.3d at 76.  

Assessing the factors weighed in Parkcentral, the facts within this 

immediate matter cannot lead to a finding that the transactions were 

predominantly foreign.  Notably, unsponsored ADRs require that the issuer 

possess shares of common stock from the derivative entity whereas other 

arrangements (for example, securities-based swap agreements) do not require 

the same level of investment.  See Stoyas 896 F.3d at 950. This distinction is 

significant because it illustrates how the unsponsored ADRs have a more direct 

connection as their price is inherently tethered to the issuer’s common stock, 

even if that common stock is not traded on a U.S. exchange. See Stoyas, 896 

F.3d at 950 (flagging this distinction).  This gives an issuer a more immediate 

and informed domestic presence.  Overall, unsponsored ADRs have a more 

significant level of connection to the U.S. based banks and distributors, making 

them stand apart from the “unusual form of security” at issue in 

Parkcentral.  See Atlantica 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 3209 at 24.  
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Here, there are substantial domestic elements involved.  Both Marconi 

and Factor utilized extensive U.S. connections to further enhance their brand’s 

market viability.  This is most apparent in the meeting with Schutt, which laid 

the foundation for what eventually led to the establishment of the unsponsored 

ADRs.  (R.4).  The ADRs were distributed exclusively by Hansen Bank & Trust, 

to hedge fund managers in New York and Connecticut, and proper SEC 

regulations were followed with the filing of the Form F-6.  Id.  Finally, the 

significant connection between the stock price and the ADRs (most of which 

had been driven by the American hedge fund managers) cannot be 

understated, as the two were near analogous in their fluctuations, rises, and 

declines.  Although the fraudulent statements occurred in Italy, they had a 

substantial impact on the ADRs in the United States. 

Finally, permitting foreign companies to obtain a free pass simply 

because an ADR is unsponsored would be averse to the intent of the Exchange 

Act. The Morrison court stated that “the presumption against extraterritorial 

application would be a craven watchdog indeed if it retreated to its kennel 

whenever some domestic activity is involved . . .”  561 U.S. at 266.  To 

uniformly prevent the application of §10(b) would permit foreign entities to take 

advantage of U.S. markets and investors with little fear of 

repercussion.  Protection of U.S. investors and truthful disclosure in the 

marketplace – twin goals of securities regulation – would be severely frustrated.  

II. A VIOLATION OF RULE 10B-5(A) AND RULE 10B-5(C) OCCURS WHEN 
MATERIAL MISTATEMENTS ARE MADE BY DRAFTING FALSE 

ASSURANCES THAT ARE DISSEMINATED TO THE INTERNET AND 
INVESTORS. 
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The Fourteenth Circuit incorrectly held that primary liability under Rule 

10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c) does not result from the drafting of material 

misstatements, even when the actor knows them to be both false and/or 

misleading so long as they do not disseminate them.  §10(b) of the Exchange 

Act expressly prohibits market manipulation and provides that it is unlawful 

"[t]o use or employ in connection with the purchase or sale of a security . . . 

any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of such 

rules and regulations as the Commission may prescribe as necessary or 

appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of investors.”  15 U.S.C. 

§ 78j(b).  Rule 10b-5 similarly specifies what constitutes market manipulation, 

making it unlawful to "(a) employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud ... 

or (c) to engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or 

would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, in connection with the 

purchase or sale of any security."  17 C.F.R. § 240. 10b-5. 

This Court has acknowledged that Rule 10b-5 is the most 

comprehensive of the antifraud provisions found in the federal securities laws. 

S.E.C. Rule 10b-5, 1974 Wash. U. L. Q. 941 (1974).  “Market Manipulation” is 

considered a term of art and is made unlawful by Rule 10b-5. Santa Fe Indus., 

Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462, 476-77 (1997).  The purpose of the Exchange Act is 

to prevent practices that aim to affect the market activity and prevent actors 

from “misleading” investors.  Id. at 476-77. 

This Court in Lorenzo recognized that Congress’s intent in enacting the 

Exchange Act was to root out instances of fraud in the marketplace.  Lorenzo v. 

S.E.C., 139 S. Ct. 1094, 1104 (2019).  The SEC’s regulations are in place to 
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afford broad protection to investors.  S.E.C. v. W.J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293, 

299 (1946).  Courts have further interpreted Congress’s objectives in passing 

the Act to insure honest securities markets and promote investor confidence.  

United States v. O’Hagan., 521 U.S. 642, 655 (1997). 

A. Intentionally drafting and disseminating assurances to investors 
that are materially false is a violation of Rule 10b-5(a). 

 
 Rule 10b-5(a) provides that it is unlawful to directly, or indirectly by the 

use of any means employ a device, scheme or artifice to defraud.  Section 10(b) 

applies to both buyers and sellers.  Aaron v. S.E.C., 44. U.S. 680, 690 (1980).  

Rules 10b–5(a) and (c), however, prohibit manipulative or deceptive acts, 

versus material misrepresentations or omissions.  Id. at 1192.  A defendant 

may be liable under Rule 10b-5(a) and Rule 10b-5(c) without being liable under 

Rule 10b-5(b).  Scholnik v. Schecter, 752 F.Supp. 1317, 1323 (1990).  The 

National Securities Case: The Supreme Court and Rule 10b-5, 69 COLUMBIA LAW 

REVIEW , 906–919, 916 (1969) (explaining that overlapping sections of the 

regulation apply to different situations). 

 1.   A written assurance constitutes a “Device” under Rule 10b-5(a). 

The Fourteenth Circuit erred in finding that the false assurances were 

not a device under Rule 10b-5(a).  A device is defined as “that which is devised 

or formed by design; a ‘scheme’ is a project, plan, or program of something to 

be done; and an ‘artifice’ is an artful stratagem or trick.” Lorenzo, 139 S.Ct. at 

1001, (quoting Aaron.,100 S.Ct. at1955.).  This Court in Lorenzo held that the 

dissemination of false or misleading statements with the intent to defraud can 

fall within the scope of subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5.  Id. at 1100.  The 
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Lorenzo Court explained that by sending emails which an actor understands to 

contain material untruths, he or she was employing a device, scheme, and 

artifice to defraud within the meaning of Rule 10b-5.  Id. at 1101.  Lorenzo sent 

false statements directly to investors in his capacity as vice president of the 

company and mislead investors.  Id.  

Importantly, statements regarding projections of future performance may 

be actionable under Rule 10b-5 if worded as guarantees or supported by 

specific statements of fact or if the speaker does not genuinely or reasonably 

believe them.  Kowal v. IBM Corp., (In Re IBM Corp. Sec. Litig.,) 163 F.3d 

102,107 (2d Cir. 1998); see also Rubinstein v. Collins., 20 F.3d 160,168 (5th 

Circ. 1994); Kowal v. MCI Communications Corp., 16 F.3d 1271, 1277 

(D.C.Cir.1994).  The court in In re Pamalat Sec. Litig, held that a deceptive 

device was employed when regular factoring and securitization of worthless 

invoices were used to deceive because they created an appearance of 

conventional securitization operation.  376 F. Supp. 2d 472, 504 (S.D.N.Y. 

2005). 

Analogous to the facts in Lorenzo, Cato’s drafted assurances – which 

were showcased and disbursed to investors at the Annual Meeting – were false 

and misleading. (R. at 6).  Cato’s assurances were placed in the slide deck 

presented by Marconi.  (Id.).  Cato’s assurances were also published on the 

Alcollezione website in English.  (R. at 6).  This false and misleading 

information increased Frizzantissimo stock prices, which initially soared 8% in 

after-hours trading, and another 14% on the market throughout the early 

winter of 2018.  (R. at 6).  Cato knew the information was false and discussed 
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the information with Marconi. (R. at 5). Cato then drafted the false assurances 

in time for the annual meeting.  (R. at 5-6).  The very purpose of Cato’s actions, 

along with Marconi’s, was to increase investor interest in Frizzantissimo, which 

she accomplished by drafting and disseminating false information. 

Similar to the findings in IBM, Kowal, and Rubenstein, Cato’s actions 

violate Rule 10b-5 because they assured that the Frizzantissimo product would 

be approved in the second quarter of 2018. (R. at 6).  After discussing and 

acknowledging that the process of certification would be an “uphill battle “that 

could not be achieved in the short-term, Cato drafted the false assurances.(R. 

at 6).  Cato’s assurances were condensed into a disclosure that was inserted 

into the slide deck presented by Marconi.  (R.at 6).  The slide deck was 

announced at the Annual Meeting and was presented with Cato’s statements 

included within the presentation.  (R. at 6).  The slide deck was uploaded to the 

Investor Relations section of Alcollezione’s website and was significant in 

attracting investors. (R. at 6).  Cato knew her statements to be materially false 

when she drafted them.  Yet, Cato still elected to publish them in the slide deck 

and on Alcollezione’s website.  Therefore, Cato’s actions created a device which 

misled consumers into investing in the company in violation of Rule 10b-5(a). 

2. When multiple actors within a company draft and 

disseminate false assurances, they have created a “scheme” 

which is prohibited by Rule 10b-5(a). 

 

 The Fourteenth Circuit erred in finding that false assurances, even when 

written by a general counsel and other members of management, was not a 

“scheme” under Rule 10b-5(a).  Cato instigated a scheme by creating false 

assurances that were included in the slide deck presented at the Annual 
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Meeting of shareholders and were uploaded to Alcollezione’s website.  (R. at 6).  

Conduct sufficient to find scheme liability is defined as the “editing and 

publishing of well-timed social media posts and emails with targeted content to 

inflate the price of a stock artificially.”  In re Galena, 116 F. Supp. at 1194.  

Scheme liability has also been found where alleged conduct was not just 

specific false statements, but also the planning of a comprehensive scheme 

through specific steps to mislead buyers.  S.E.C. v. Curshen., 888 F.Supp.2d 

1299, 1308 (S.D.Fla.2012).   

To succeed, manipulative schemes generally remain undisclosed to the 

public. Santa Fe Industries, Inc. v. Green., 540 U.S. 462, 474 (1977).  However, 

schemes used to artificially inflate or deflate stock prices, falsifying records, 

and creating and distributing false reports are also violative of Rule 10b-5(a).  

In Re Enron 235 F. Supp.2d 549,579 (2002).  Stock market manipulation is 

broadly defined as “any intentional or willful conduct designed to deceive or 

defraud investors by controlling the price of securities.”  S.E.C. v. Martino., 255 

F. Supp.2d 268 ( 2nd Cir. 2002).  A scheme liability exists when the alleged 

conduct is not just specific false statements but also a planned and executed 

effort to mislead buyers.  Curshen., 888 F.Supp.2d at 1308. 

In Curshen, a company orchestrated a false media campaign, including 

posting a false website, touting company development, and issuing press 

releases boasting fictitious achievements.  Id. at 1305.  Under Rule 10b-5, once 

a party chooses to speak, it has a duty to be both accurate and complete. 

Caiola v. Citibank., N.A., N.Y., 295 F.3d 312, 331 (2d Cir.2002).   
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In Galena, a company used various finance news reporting websites 

along with Facebook, Twitter, and others to publish false information about 

their company in order to drive the price of their stock up.  In re Galena, 117 F. 

Supp. 3d at 1158.  The reports posted on the websites included false 

disclaimers stating that the company did not pay for the reports. Id.  Galena 

also made false and misleading statements in their name and published a 

prospectus which had various material omissions.  Id. at 1162.   

 Here, like Galena, Marconi and Cato, knowing that the company’s 

regulatory compliance would be an uphill battle, drafted and published 

assurances that the product “Frizzantissimo” would be ready for the second 

quarter of 2018.  (R. at 6).  Cato condensed the assurances she created into a 

slide deck which Marconi would present when he announced the launch of 

Frizzantissimo.  (R. at 6).  Like Galena, the information was posted online to 

spur investor interest.  (R. at 6).  The Frizzantissimo scheme resulted in both 

an immediate price boost of 8% and an ADR trend upward another 14% 

through the early winter of 2018.  Id.  Cato and Marconi worked in concert to 

disseminate false and misleading information to investors when Marconi stated 

to Cato that “he will deal with the PR blowback”.  (R.5).  Cato then knowingly 

drafted misleading and false assurances and published them within the 

Marconi’s slide deck.  (R.6).  

 Like the parties in Curshen, Cato and Marconi took specific steps to 

mislead investors by publishing false assurances, discussing them at the 

annual shareholder meeting, and publishing to their website.  (R.5-6).  The 

conduct of Cato and Marconi was intentional and willful, designed to deceive 
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investors into believing that the product would pass regulations for the second 

quarter of 2018.  (Id.).  The conduct at issue is the exact type of conduct that 

the Securities Regulation aims to prevent.  Following the logic in Galena and 

Martino, Marconi and Cato should be found in violation of Rule 10b-5(a) by 

disseminating false information about Frizzantissimo meeting beverage 

regulation standards which drove Frizzantissimo stock and ADR price up. 

3. When an actor is deceitful, and publishes assurances they 

know to be false, Rule 10b-5(a) has been violated. 

 
This court should reverse the Fourteenth Circuit's decision in holding 

that that a company publishing false assurances to investors did not violate 

Rule 10b-5(a).  Put simply, Cato engaged in business practice that was 

deceitful when she drafted knowingly false assurances that Frizzantissimo 

would pass beverage regulations and allowed investors and the internet to 

disseminate them.   

 The court will draw reasonable inferences in a Plaintiff’s favor where the 

conduct has enough nexus to the purchase of securities.  In re Parmalat Sec. 

Litig., 376 F. Supp. 2d 472, 505–06 (S.D.N.Y. 2005).  The court in JAC has 

recognized that scheme liability is distinct from “maker” liability.  JAC Holding 

Enterprises, Inc. v. Atrium Capital Partners, LLC., 997 F. Supp.2d 710, 735 

(E.D. Mich. 2014). A defendant not liable under Rule 10b-5(b) for failure to 

disclose may still be held liable under Rule 10b-5(a) and 10b-5(c) as a 

participant in an allegedly fraudulent scheme. Benzon v. Morgan Stanley 

Distributors, Inc., 420 F.3d 598, 610 (6th Cir. 2005) (quoting Scholnik v. 

Schecter, 752 F.Supp 1317, 1323 (E.D.Mich. 1990)). 
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In Chiarella, the court found that an employee who was engaged in 

printing corporate takeover bids could not be convicted if he or she were under 

no duty to speak and had no prior dealings with stockholders.  Chiarella v. 

U.S., 445 U.S. 222, (1980). In its opinion, this Court discussed that at common 

law, misrepresentations made for the purpose of reliance upon the false 

statement were fraudulent.  Id. at 228.  A person who fails to disclose only 

commits fraud when he or she had a duty to disclose.  Id.  Rule 10b does not 

state whether silence itself is actionable. Id. 

Here, Cato directly engaged in the act of business that operates as fraud 

and deceit.  Cato drafted false assurances about Frizzantissimo and inserted 

them into the slide deck that was presented at the Annual Meeting.  (R.6).  

Alcollezione created an “Investors Relations” page in preparation for its initial 

public offering in 2011.  (R. at 3).  The Investor Relations page included access 

to financial statements, corporate disclosures, and other investment materials 

in both English and Italian.  (R. at 3).  In the weeks leading up to the annual 

meeting, there were reports of tightening regulations on food and beverages.  

(R. at 5).  Cato informed Marconi that compliance with the regulations would 

be an uphill climb.  (R. at 5).  Cato then went on to draft the assurances and 

inserted them into the slide deck that would be delivered at the Annual 

Meeting.  (R. at 6).  The slide deck and assurances were also posted on the 

Investor Relations portion of Alcollezione’s website.  (R. at 6).  The stock and 

ADR’s soared over 8% in after-hours trading and an additional 14% through 

early winter of 2018.  (R.6).  Cato’s assurances were used to deceive the 

investors into investing in a beverage that was not going to pass regulations.  



  P12 

 30 

Cato’s practice of drafting false assurances operated as fraud to the investors of 

Alcollezione’s. 

B.  Primary liability occurs under Rule 10b-5(c) when an actor drafts 
 materially false assurances and distributes them to investors. 
 

The Fourteenth Circuit erred in failing to apply primary liability under 

Rule 10b5-(c) when an actor drafts false assurances and disseminates them to 

investors.  “Any person or entity, including a lawyer, accountant, or bank, who 

employs a manipulative device or makes a material misstatement (or omission) 

on which a purchaser or seller of securities relies may be liable as a primary 

violator under 10b–5.”  Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of 

Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 177 (1994).  A mere participant in the securities 

market may be held liable as a primary violator under Rule 10b-5(c) when the 

requirements for primary liability are met under a Rule 10b-5(c) cause of 

action. Id.  

The court in Connett has acknowledged that there must be a substantial 

likelihood that a reasonable investor would have viewed the disclosure of the 

omitted facts as altering the information made available as a whole.  Connett v. 

Justus Enterprises of Kansas, Inc., 68 F.3d 382, 387 (10th Cir. 1995).  

Generally, private plaintiffs are permitted to bring suit under Rule 10b-5 

against only primary violators.  Id. at 178.  However, the Tenth Circuit in 

Central Bank acknowledged that in any complex securities fraud case, there 

are likely to be multiple violators.  Id. at 191.  

The principles set forth in Central Bank first appeared in Wright v. Ernest 

& Young, 152 F.3d. 169 (2nd. Cir. 1988). The Second Circuit held that an actor 
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cannot incur primary liability under Rule 10b-5(c) for a statement not 

attributed to that actor at the time of its dissemination.  Id. at 178.  Wright, 

involving claims against an accounting firm, alleged that Ernst & Young 

approved a corporation’s false and misleading statement which ultimately was 

disseminated to the public.  Id. at 175.  “Activity is manipulative only when it 

connotes intentional or willful conduct that is designed to deceive or defraud 

investors by controlling or artificially affecting the price of securities.”  Id. at 

199.  There are currently two strains of authority laying out the formula for 

finding primary liability: (1) the “substantial participation test; and (2) the 

“bright-line test.” Wright, 152 F.3d at 175 (utilizing bright line test); Howard v. 

Everex Sys., Inc., 228 F.3d 1057,1061 (9th Cir. 2000) (utilizing the substantial 

participation test). Both tests examine the role that the defendant played in 

creating, composing, and causing the existence of an untrue statement.  

Regardless of the test utilized by this Court, Cato’s actions justify a finding of 

primary liability.   

1. The “substantial participation” test examines an actor’s  
 involvement in preparation of fraudulent statements. 

 
Under the "substantial participation test,” a person’s substantial 

participation or intricate involvement in the preparation of fraudulent 

statements is enough to establish primary liability.  S.E.C. v. Tambone, 597 

F.3d 436, 447 ( 1st Cir. 2010); citing, Howard v. Everex Sys., Inc., 228 F.3d 

1057,1061 (9th Cir. 2000), In re Software Toolworks, Inc. Sec. Litig., 50 F.3d 

615, 628-29 (9th Cir. 1994).  There, the plaintiff’s claim against the defendant 

was permitted to proceed because the vice president for finance and investor 
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relations was primarily responsible for drafting, producing, reviewing and/or 

disseminating false and misleading statements through his company, 

Scholastic. In Re Scholastic Corp Sec. Litig.v. Scholastic Corp., 252 F.3d 63, 76 

(2001).   

Similar to the facts in In Re Scholatic Corp, Cato is primarily liable under 

the “substantial participation” test.  A senior executive and general counsel of 

the company, Cato drafted assurances that she knew were false. (R. at 6-7).  

Those false assurances were published on the website and made available to 

investors. (R. at 6). Those false assurances were also inserted into the 

presentation shared at the annual meeting.  Id.  As the sole drafter and creator 

of the false assurances, Cato should therefore be held primarily liable under 

Rule 10b-5(c). 

2. The elements of the “bright line” test are satisfied when an actor 
makes false statements, attributable to him or her, at the time the 

statements are published. 
 
The “bright line” test requires the defendant to have made the false 

statements attributable to him at the time of public dissemination.  Wright, 152 

F.3d at 175, see also; Ziemba v. Cascade Int’l Inc., 256 F.3d 1194, 1205 (11 

Cir. 2001); Anxieter v. Home-Stake Prod. Co., 77 F.3d 1215,1226 (10th Cir. 

1996); In re Kendall Sq. Research Corp. Sec. Litig., 868 F. Supp. 26,28 n.2 ( D. 

Mass. 1994).  Cato is primarily liable under the “bright-line” test.  Cato was the 

sole drafter and creator of the false assurances. (R. at 6).  Cato, as general 

counsel, informed Marconi that the new regulations and compliance would be 

an uphill climb.  (R. at 5).  Cato then drafted the assurances. (R. at 6). Cato 

condensed the assurances into a disclosure that was inserted into Marconi’s 
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slide deck.  Id.  Cato should be held liable under the “bright line” test because 

they assurances are attributable to her at the time they were shared in the 

meeting and on the investor relations page of the Alcollezione website.  

The core purpose of securities regulation in the United States is to 

protect investors from fraudulent statements and activity that affects the 

integrity of the market.  Actors such as Cato should be held primarily liable 

under Rule 10b-5 because they are committing the very acts which the federal 

securities laws are intended to prohibit. 

CONCLUSION 
 
 For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse the decision of the 

United States Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth Circuit and hold that the 

transaction was not predominantly foreign so as to preclude the extraterritorial 

application of §10(b) of the Exchange Act, and that primary liability occurred 

under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c).    
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APPENDIX 1 

Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. § 78j). 
 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any 
means or instrumentality of interstate commerce or of the mails, or of any 
facility of any national securities exchange— 
 
(a)(1) To effect a short sale, or to use or employ any stop-loss order in 
connection with the purchase or sale, of any security other than a government 
security, in contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission 
may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the 
protection of investors. 
 
(2) Paragraph (1) of this subsection shall not apply to security futures 
products. 
 
(b) To use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security 
registered on a national securities exchange or any security not so registered, 
or any securities-based swap agreement any manipulative or deceptive device 
or contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the 
Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or 
for the protection of investors. 
 
(c)(1) To effect, accept, or facilitate a transaction involving the loan or 
borrowing of securities in contravention of such rules and regulations as the 
Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or 
for the protection of investors. 
 
(2) Nothing in paragraph (1) may be construed to limit the authority of the 
appropriate Federal banking agency (as defined in section 1813(q) of Title 12), 
the National Credit Union Administration, or any other Federal department or 
agency having a responsibility under Federal law to prescribe rules or 
regulations restricting transactions involving the loan or borrowing of securities 
in order to protect the safety and soundness of a financial institution or to 
protect the financial system from systemic risk. 
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APPENDIX 2 

Rule 10b-5 of the Securities and Exchange Commission  
17 C.F.R. § 240.10b–5. 

 
It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any 
means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any 
facility of any national securities exchange, 
 
(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, 
 
(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a 
material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of 
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or 
 
(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or 
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person, in connection with the 
purchase or sale of any security. 
 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 


